1990

Warren T. Lessley, Helen T. Lessley, Romie F.
Lessley, Viola J. Lessley, Virginia L. Ward Kleinert v.
Clealon B. Mann, Nannell H. Mann, Brighton
Building, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction for the Utah Court of Appeals to hear this appeal is conferred by Utah Code Ann., §§78-2-2(3)(j) and 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1990).

II

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the District Court err in granting appellee's Motion Re: Allocation of Judgment without requiring appellee to fully honor his assignment in satisfaction of the cross-claim filed by appellants?

III

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants, Romie F. Lessley, Viola J. Lessley and Virginia L. Ward Klienert, together with appellee, Warren Lessley, were plaintiffs in an action for breach of contract against defendants Clealon B. Mann, Nannell H. Mann, Brighton Building, Inc., and Does I through X, in Civil No. C-80-6041, Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. In that underlying action, appellants filed a cross-claim against appellee. (Appellants' Reply to Counterclaim and Cross-Claim is included as Exhibit "A" in the Appendix attached hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.)

Appellants' cross-claim against appellee was settled by stipulation. (The Stipulation and Settlement is included as

Exhibit "B" in the Appendix attached hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.) Appellee assigned to appellants \$13,131.92 of any judgment he might obtain against defendants in the underlying action.

A judgment of \$260,000.00 was awarded to the plaintiffs (appellants and appellee herein) in the underlying action. (The Judgment is included as Exhibit "C" in the Appendix attached hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.)

The defendant in the underlying action filed bankruptcy. The bankruptcy trustee recovered significant assets on behalf of the bankrupt estate and proposed an interim distribution in an amount less than the judgment obtained by plaintiffs in the underlying action.

The trial court below, on motion by appellee, entered an order allocating the interim distribution between the parties by ordering a payment to appellants in a sum less than \$13,131.92. (Appellee's Motion Re: Allocation of Judgment is included as Exhibit "D" in the Appendix attached hereto, Appellants' Objection to Motion Allocating Distribution of Judgment is included as Exhibit "E", the trial court's Ruling dated May 17, 1990, is included as Exhibit "F", and the Order on Motion Re: Allocation of Judgment is included as Exhibit "G". Exhibits D through F are incorporated herein by reference.)

The parties agree that certified copies of the documents described in the foregoing paragraphs shall be included as an Appendix to this agreed Statement of the Case in lieu of the record on appeal as contemplated by U.R.A.P., Rule 11(f), and shall be considered a part thereof, and that the parties may attach copies of those documents as appendices to their briefs.

IV

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The District Court erred in granting appellee Warren Lessley's Motion Re: Allocation of Judgment because the Stipulation and Settlement executed by the parties included an assignment of a sum certain, \$13,131.92, that the District Court had no power to alter or set aside and because Warren Lessley should be estopped from changing his position after he agreed to the assignment.

V

ARGUMENT

A. THE ASSIGNMENT IS AN UNCONDITIONAL ASSIGNMENT OF A SUM CERTAIN AND IS NOT SUBJECT TO "ADJUSTMENT" BY THE DISTRICT COURT.

The crux of this appeal is the assignment by appellee, Warren Lessley, to appellants of a sum certain, \$13,131.92, and the effect, if any, on that assignment produced by the subsequent bankruptcy of Clealon B. Mann, the defendant in the underlying

action. Specifically, appellants submit that the District Court erred when it reduced the amount to be paid under the assignment, reasoning that because the judgment from which the assignment amount was to be paid was reduced in bankruptcy, the amount agreed to in the unrelated assignment should also be reduced.

The Stipulation and Settlement entered into by the parties to this appeal stated, in pertinent part:

1. In the event that plaintiff Warren Lessley obtains a Judgment against defendants Clealon B. Mann and Nannell H. Mann by settlement or after trial of this matter, Warren Lessley assigns to Romie F. Lessley, Viola J. Lessley and Virginia L. Klienert, \$13,131.92 of said judgment. In the event plaintiff Warren Lessley fails to obtain a Judgment against defendants Clealon B. Mann and Nannell H. Mann, plaintiff Warren Lessley shall not be indebted to plaintiffs Romie F. Lessley, Viola J. Lessley and Virginia L. Kleinert.

(Stipulation and Settlement at 2, attached as Exhibit "A" to Appendix; R. 448.)

The total judgment awarded in the underlying action was divided among the plaintiffs by the District Court as follows:

Warren T. Lessley	\$266,000.00 X .4074 = \$108,370.37
Romie F. Lessley	\$266,000.00 X .4074 = \$108,370.37
Virginia L. Kleinert	\$266,000.00 X .0741 = \$ 19,703.71
Viola J. Lessley	\$266,000.00 X .1111 = \$ 29,555.56
	TOTAL <u>\$265,999.81</u>

(Order on Motion Re: Allocation of Judgment at 2, attached as Exhibit "G" to Appendix; R. 466.) The interim distribution of \$66,500.00, representing twenty-five percent (25%) of the total judgment, was divided as follows:

Warren T. Lessley	\$66,500.00 X .4074 = \$27,092.10
Romie F. Lessley	66,500.00 X .4074 = \$27,092.10
Virginia L. Kleinert	66,500.00 X .0741 = \$ 4,927.65
Viola J. Lessley	66,500.00 X .1111 = \$ 7,388.15
TOTAL	<u>\$66,500.00</u>

When the claim for the \$260,000.00 judgment was submitted to the bankruptcy court, an additional \$6,000.00 in accrued interest was approved. Thus, appellants' and appellees' total claim against the bankrupt defendant is for \$266,000.00.

Id. Warren Lessley recovered more than sufficient funds to pay the assigned amount. However, the District Court, without reference to legal authority, reduced the amount Warren Lessley was to pay to appellants under the assignment by seventy-five percent (75%) because the underlying judgment, "has been effectively reduced through bankruptcy to a percentage on the dollar," and required Warren Lessley to pay only \$3,282.89 to appellants. (Ruling at 2, attached as Exhibit "F" to Appendix; R. 463.) The interim distribution, recognizing the full amount agreed to in the assignment, should have been divided as follows:

Warren T. Lessley	\$66,500.00 X .4074 = \$27,092.10	
	- 13,131.92	
	<u>\$13,960.18</u>	

Romie F. Lessley	\$66,500.00 X .4074 =	\$13,960.18
Virginia L. Kleinert	\$66,500.00 X .0741 =	\$27,092.10
Viola J. Lessley	\$66,500.00 X .1111 =	4,927.65
		<u>7,388.15</u>
	TOTAL	\$66,500.00

The terms of the assignment are clear and unambiguous.

In construing an assignment, as in the construction of contracts generally, when the words employed are free from ambiguity, there is no occasion for interpretation. Absent ambiguity reflected in the wording of the instrument, it is the court's duty to give effect to the language of the entire document in accordance with the commonly accepted and ordinary meaning of the words.

Benton v. Albuquerque Nat. Bank, 701 P.2d 1025, 1031 (N.M. App. 1985). All provisions of the assignment must be construed as a whole. Prudential Federal Savings and Loan Assn. v. King, 22 Utah 2d 379, 453 P.2d 697, 699 (1969); Sheffer v. Griffiths, 67 Utah 65, 245 P. 698, 700 (1926). The assignment clearly does not contemplate a variable amount dependent upon the financial health of the defendant in the underlying action. It requires Warren Lessley to pay to appellants the first \$13,131.92 of any recovery obtained by him from the defendants in the underlying action. The District Court erred in allowing Warren Lessley to avoid the obligations he agreed to in the assignment.

At the time the parties executed the Stipulation and Settlement, all of Warren Lessley's interest in the \$13,131.92

amount passed immediately to appellants and divested Warren Lessley of all right of title and interest in that amount. See e.g., Jones v. Central States Inv. Co., 654 P.2d 727, 728 (Wyo. 1982); Patrons State Bank and Trust Company v. Shapiro, 528 P.2d 1198, 1203 (Kan. 1974); First Nat. Bank of Topeka v. United Telephone Assn, 353 P.2d 963, 973 (Kan. 1960). Therefore, any recovery Warren Lessley received from the defendants, up to \$13,131.92, must be regarded as trust funds belonging to appellants. Patrons State Bank and Trust Company v. Shapiro, supra at 1203; First Nat. Bank of Topeka v. United Telephone Assn, supra at 973.

Once a valid assignment has been made, the assignor cannot cancel or modify the assignment by unilateral action without assent of the assignee.

Bonanza Motors, Inc. v. Webb, 657 P.2d 1102, 1104 (Idaho App. 1983).

The assignment clearly did not provide for the reduction ordered by the District Court, and there is no legal authority sanctioning such a reduction.

B. APPELLEE IS ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THAT THE SUM CERTAIN AGREED TO IN THE ASSIGNMENT SHOULD BE REDUCED.

Warren Lessley's Motion Re: Allocation of Judgment is, in effect, an attempt to set aside the Stipulation and Settlement he

entered into earlier and to substitute in its place a new agreement. The Stipulation and Settlement, "can be set aside only for the reasons generally available to set aside a compromise agreement, i.e., illegality, fraud, duress, undue influences, or mistake." Matter of Estate of Chasel, 725 P.2d 1345, 1348 (Utah 1986). See also, Mascaro v. Davis, 741 P.2d 938 (Utah 1987); Rasmussen v. Martin, 659 P.2d 155 (Idaho App. 1983); Cerbone v. Cerbone, 428 N.Y.S. 2d 777 (1979); McDonald v. Hester, 155 S.E. 2d 720 (Geo. App. 1967).

Warren Lessley did not present any of those grounds to the trial court; they do not exist in this case. His dissatisfaction with the assignment, which arose after it appeared that the bankruptcy of the defendant in the underlying action might reduce his recovery, is not sufficient grounds to set the assignment aside. Recreation Dev. Co., v. American Const., 749 P.2d 1002, 1005 (Colo. App. 1987); Royal v. Colorado State Personnel Bd., 690 P.2d 253, 255 (Colo. App. 1984).

Warren Lessley admitted his liability to appellants and agreed to pay them \$13,131.92 of any judgment obtained in the underlying action. (Stipulation and Settlement at 2, attached as Exhibit A to Appendix; R. 448.) Appellants dismissed the cross-claim against him in return for the assignment.

As a general rule parties to an action are bound by their pleadings and judicial declarations and are estopped to deny or

contradict them where the other parties to the action relied thereon and changed their position by reason thereof.

Arrowhead Const. Co. v. Essex Corp., 662 P.2d 1195, 1201 (Kan. 1983). Equitable estoppel prevents Warren Lessley from changing his position because appellants have justifiably relied on the assignment and will be injured if Warren Lessley is allowed to avoid his obligation. See e.g., Bruer-Harrison, Inc. v. Combe, 146 Utah Adv. Rep 26, 32, ____ P.2d ____ (Utah Ct. App. 1990); Utah Dept. of Transp. v. Reagan Outdoor Advertising, Inc., 751 P.2d 270, 271 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); Esmieu v. Schrag, 598 P.2d 1366, 1369 (Wash. 1979).

Furthermore, Warren Lessley should be prevented, under the doctrine of "judicial estoppel" from playing "fast and loose" with the court...". Citizens Bank v. C & H Const. & Paving Co, Inc., 552 P.2d 796, 802 (N.M. App. 1976); See also, Wade v. Woodings-Verona Tool Works, 469 F. Supp 465 (W.D. Pa. 1979); Rosenburg v. Rosenburg, 601 P.2d 589 (Ariz. 1979); Jamison v. Consolidated Utilities, Inc., 576 P.2d 97 (Alaska 1978).

Finally, in G. Eugene England Found. v. Smith's Food King No. 6, 542 P.2d 753, 755 (Utah 1975), the court stated:

[W]here one of two innocent parties must suffer a loss because of the conduct of the third, the law generally leans toward placing the loss upon the one who made the choice and created the circumstances out of which the loss came about.