1990

Warren T. Lessley, Helen T. Lessley, Romie F.
Lessley, Viola J. Lessley, Virginia L. Ward Kleinert v.
Clealon B. Mann, Nannell H. Mann, Brighton
Building, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals to hear this matter pursuant to Sections 78-2-2(3)(j) and 78-2(a)-3(2)(j), Utah Code Ann.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court err in its interpretation of a settlement agreement entered into by parties to this litigation?

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF
THE CONSTITUTION, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations which are determinative of this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee accepts Appellants' Statement of the Case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The parties entered into a settlement agreement to resolve claims between them. The settlement agreement provided that if the Lessleys should prevail against the Manns, Warren Lessley assigned to the appellants \$13,131.92 of said judgment. Upon entry of judgment against the Manns, Warren Lessley's interest in said judgment was reduced by \$13,131.92 and the appellants' interest in the judgment was increased by \$13,131.92. The Manns filed bankruptcy shortly after the entry of the Lessley judgment. The bankruptcy trustee paid the Mann claimants in an amount equal to 25% of the claims. This reduced the value of the judgment assigned to the appellants to 25% of \$13,131.92 plus accrued interest.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WARREN LESSLEY ASSIGNED TO APPELLANTS A JUDGMENT AGAINST THE MANNS IN THE SUM OF \$13,131.92.

The trial court in this matter was called on to interpret language from a settlement agreement entered into by Warren T. Lessley and his family members, Romie F. Lessley, Virginia L. Kleinert, and Viola J. Lessley. As the appeal presents only a question of law, the appellate court will review the trial court's ruling for correctness and accord it no particular deference. Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp., 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988).

At issue in this matter is the interpretation of an assignment contained in a settlement agreement. An assignment is interpreted in accordance with the rules of construction governing contracts, the primary object being to ascertain and carry out the intention of the parties from the words and language employed. Assignments, Section 72, 6(A) C.J.S. 708.

In the interpretation of a contract, the whole agreement must be considered, and the whole object is not to determine what the parties meant to say, but the meaning of what the parties did say.

Exxon Corp. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 589 S.W.2d 473, 478 (Tex. Civ. Ap. 1979). Cited with approval in Big Cottonwood Tanner Ditch Co. v. Salt Lake City, 740 P.2d 1347, fn. 1 (Utah App. 1987).

The pertinent language from the settlement agreement provides as follows:

In the event that plaintiff Warren Lessley obtains a judgment against defendants Clealon B. Mann and Nannell H. Mann by settlement or after trial of this matter, Warren Lessley assigns to Romie F. Lessley, Viola J. Lessley and Virginia L. Kleinert \$13,131.92 of said judgment. In the event plaintiff Warren Lessley fails to obtain a judgment against defendants Clealon B. Mann and Nannell H. Mann, plaintiff Warren Lessley shall not be indebted to plaintiffs Romie F. Lessley, Viola J. Lessley and Virginia L. Kleinert.

This settlement agreement was entered into prior to the resolution of a claim by Warren Lessley, Romie F. Lessley, Viola J. Lessley and Virginia L. Kleinert against Clealon Mann and Nannell Mann. The Lessley claim arose from the sale of a parcel of real property in which the plaintiffs had the following undivided interests:

Warren Lessley	11/27
Romie F. Lessley	11/27
Virginia L. Kleinert	2/27
Viola J. Lessley	3/27

A settlement was reached between the Lessley plaintiffs and the Mann defendants wherein a judgment was entered against the Manns in favor of the Lessleys in the sum of \$260,000. Shortly thereafter, the Manns filed a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court. An interim distribution occurred in the bankruptcy proceeding wherein each creditor was paid 25% of their claim. The claim filed by the Lessleys in

the Mann bankruptcy was for \$266,000. This represented the principal amount of the judgment, \$260,000, plus \$6,000 of accrued interest.

The respective interests of the Lessley family in the Mann judgment was based upon their respective interest in the real property that gave rise to the entry of the judgment. Accordingly, Warren Lessley submit the judgment should be apportioned as follows:

Warren Lessley	\$260,000 x 11/27 = \$105,925.92
Romie Lessley	\$260,000 x 11/27 = \$105,925.92
Viola Lessley	\$260,000 x 3/27 = \$ 28,888.88
Virginia Kleinert	\$260,000 x 2/27 = \$ 19,259.25

Appellee submits that the settlement agreement would reduce his interest in the judgment by \$13,131.92, and increase the interest of his family members in the judgment in the same amount. This is the impact of an assignment.

An assignment of an interest in a judgment gives the assignee the same rights in the judgment that the assignor had and nothing more. Jack B. Parson Companies v. Nield, 751 P.2d 1131 (Utah 1988); Aird Insurance Agency v. Zions First Nat'l Bank, 612 P.2d 341 (Utah 1980).

Appellee, Warren Lessley, did not agree to pay to the appellants any sums of money. He did not agree that upon his recovery from the Manns of \$13,131.92, he would pay said sum to the appellants. He merely assigned to the appellants a portion of his interest in the Mann judgment, thereby retaining an

interest in the judgment in the sum of \$92,794. Accordingly, when the bankruptcy trustee makes a 25% interim distribution from the Mann bankruptcy, appellee would be entitled to 25% of \$92,794 plus his portion of accrued interest. The language of the settlement agreement demonstrates Warren Lessley's intention to transfer to the appellants a judgment against the Manns in the sum of \$13,131.92. It was not his intention to do more than that. Consequently, in light of the bankruptcy filing and the trustee's distribution, that judgment in the sum of \$13,131.92 resulted in a distribution to the appellants of only 25% of that sum. Thus, the trial court properly ruled that "the assignment of \$13,131.92 was of the judgment Warren Lessley obtained against the Manns, and since that judgment has been effectively reduced through bankruptcy to a percentage on the dollar, the assignees are only entitled to that percentage." Ruling of Judge Leonard H. Russon, April 17, 1990.

Appellants argue that the assignment "requires Warren Lessley to pay to appellants the first \$13,131.92 of any recovery obtained by him from the Manns." Appellants' Brief, page 6. However, that is not the effect of an assignment. The assignment divested in Warren Lessley of a portion of his judgment against the Manns and invested that portion of the judgment in the appellants. Thus, the appellants must share in the loss occasioned by the Mann bankruptcy.

CONCLUSION

Warren Lessley submits that this court should affirm the order of the trial court allocating the proceeds from the Mann bankruptcy.